Development Authority of the North Country

Subject:Procurement PolicyAdopted:February 27, 2025Resolution:2025-02-03



PROCUREMENT POLICY

TABLE OF CONTENTS

SECTION 1.0 PURPOSE	2
SECTION 2.0 DEFINITION OF TERMS	2
SECTION 3.0 COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS	3
SECTION 4.0 NON-COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS	4
SECTION 5.0 MONETARY THRESHOLDS FOR PROCUREMENT METHODS	5
SECTION 6.0 PUBLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR PROCUREMENT METHODS	6
SECTION 7.0 REQUIREMENTS REGARDING THE SELECTION OF PROCUREMENT CONTRACTORS	6
SECTION 8.0 STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS	.10
SECTION 9.0 REPORT ON PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS	.11
SECTION 10.0 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	.12
SECTION 11.0 RECORD OF REVISIONS	.12

SECTION 1.0 PURPOSE

It is the policy of the Development Authority of the North Country ("the Authority") to procure goods and services in a manner which assures: (i) compliance with all applicable provisions of law governing procurements by the Authority; (ii) the acquisition of quality goods and services which meet the Authority's needs; (iii) fairness and open competition; (iv) the wise and prudent use of the resources of the Authority; (v) opportunities for certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises in accordance with law; and (vi) the avoidance of favoritism, extravagance, fraud and corruption.

The Authority shall maintain written procedures consistent with this Policy concerning the solicitation, evaluation and selection of Contractors. These procedures shall among other things, provide for the utilization of certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises, Service-Disabled Veteran Owned Businesses, New York State Business Enterprises, New York State Residents and Small Businesses. Such procedures shall be developed by the Administrative Division and recommended to the Executive Director for approval.

This Policy is adopted in accordance with the Act (as defined below); applicable provisions of Public Authorities Law; and applicable Federal and State laws.

SECTION 2.0 DEFINITION OF TERMS

The following terms shall, for purposes of this Policy, have the following meanings unless the context shall clearly indicate otherwise:

- 1. "Act" shall mean the Development Authority of the North Country Act found at Title 29, Article 8 of the New York State Public Authorities Law.
- 2. "Authority" shall mean the Development Authority of the North Country.
- **3.** "Competitive Basis" shall mean the utilization of any of the competitive procurement methods enumerated in Section 3.1 of this Policy.
- 4. "Contract for Professional Services" shall mean any written agreement for services involving the exercise of discretion, knowledge or expertise that are performed for fee, commission or other compensation by persons or organizations, not providing such services in their capacities as an Officer or employee of the Authority. Professional Services include, but are not limited to, legal, accounting, management consulting, investment banking, financial services, insurance, planning, training, statistical research, public relations, architectural, engineering, surveying or any other services of a consulting, technical or professional nature.
- **5.** "Contractor" shall mean any contractor, consultant or vendor who enters into a Procurement Contract to provide goods, materials, equipment or services to the Authority.
- 6. "Exempt Contracts" shall mean any written agreement for goods or services for which a procurement process is impractical and may be awarded on other than a competitive basis. Such exempt contacts may include services provided by legal monopolies, for example utilities. Exempt Contracts require the approval of the Executive Director or his or her designee.
- **7.** "Minority-Owned Business Enterprise" shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto by Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended.
- "New York State Business Enterprise" shall mean a business enterprise, including a sole proprietorship, partnership, or corporation, which offers for sale or lease or other form of Page 2 of 12

exchange, goods which are substantially manufactured, produced or assembled in New York State, or services which are substantially performed within New York State. For purposes of construction services, a New York State Business Enterprise shall mean a business enterprise, including a sole proprietorship, partnership or corporation, which has its principal place of business in New York State.

- **9.** "New York Resident" shall mean a natural person who maintains a fixed, permanent and principal home located within New York State and to which such person, whenever temporarily located elsewhere, always intends to return.
- **10.** "Officer" shall mean any person so defined in the By-Laws of the Authority.
- **11.** "Procurement Contract" shall mean any written agreement to which the Authority is a party for the acquisition of goods or services of any kind, including construction and public works.
- **12.** "Procurement Policy" shall mean the Procurement Policy of the Authority that is developed and authorized by the Board of Directors of the Authority.
- **13.** "Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business" shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto by Article 3 of the Veterans' Services Law, as same may be amended.
- 14. "Small Business" shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto by Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended, and shall include a business which has a significant business presence in the State of New York, is independently owned and operated, not dominant in its field and employs, based on its industry, a certain number of persons as determined by the Director of the Division of Minority and Women's Business Development, but not to exceed three hundred, taking into consideration factors which include, but are not limited to, Federal small business administration standards pursuant to 13 CFR part 121 and any amendments thereto.
- **15.** "Women-Owned Business Enterprise" shall have the same meaning ascribed thereto by Article 15-A of the Executive Law as same may be amended.

SECTION 3.0 COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS

- **3.1** All procurements of goods and services shall be made by the Authority on a Competitive Basis except as otherwise provided in this Policy. The competitive methods used to make procurements shall include:
 - A. <u>Centralized Contracts</u>. Services, goods or materials may be obtained through contracts or other arrangements of the New York State Office of General Services or the United States General Services Administration or contracts or other arrangements of local government provided that the procurement complies with applicable procurement laws, regulations and guidelines for the use of such contracts.
 - **B.** <u>**Comparative Pricing**</u>. Solicitation and compilation of qualified potential contractor quotes and comparative analysis of the cost of each good, material or service required.
 - C. <u>Sealed Competitive Bid</u>. Solicitation of sealed price bids by invitation and advertising for specified services (other than Professional Services), goods, materials, to be awarded to the lowest responsible bidder after the submission of a responsive bid.
 - D. <u>Requests for Proposals</u>. Solicitation of specific proposals for services and materials to determine the proposer's understanding of identified financial, organizational, logistical and technical requirements. Request for Proposals may also be used when there are problems

detailing elements of performance including techniques and procedures as well as prices. Award of a Procurement Contract using this method is made on the basis of a formal evaluation of the qualifications of the proposers and the characteristics, quality and cost of such proposals.

- E. <u>Other Competitive Method</u>. Any other competitive method of procurement that is consistent with the purposes of this Policy.
- **3.2** For every contract awarded pursuant to sealed competitive bids, the Authority shall maintain procedures designed to ensure that the contract is awarded to the lowest responsible bidder submitting a bid that meets the specifications. In determining responsibility, staff shall consider factors such as financial responsibility, reliability, skill, past performance by the contractor on Authority projects, judgment and integrity. The written procedures shall further require, among other things, that: (i) to the extent required by law, there be separate specifications for major categories for work; (ii) all advertisements for sealed bids be published in the manner required by law and in such other publications as are appropriate to ensure reasonable competition; and (iii) the rationale for awarding the contract to other than the apparent low bidder be documented and retained in the procurement file.
- **3.3** For every contract awarded pursuant to a request for proposal process, the Authority shall maintain procedures governing the solicitation, evaluation and selection of consultants and contractors designed to ensure that the contract is awarded to a responsible contractor evidencing proven experience with projects of the scope, magnitude and complexity of the type that are the subject of the contract and that the contractor has the ability to perform all work required in a professional and timely manner. The written procedures shall require, among other things, that: (i) there be a written request for proposals setting forth the criteria and standards upon which the award is to be based; (ii) the notice of request for proposals be published in the manner required by law and in such other publications as are appropriate to ensure reasonable competition; (iii) the rationale for awarding the contract be documented and retained in the procurement file; and (iv) any competitive negotiations with a proposer be in the best interests of the procurement and documented in the procurement file.
- **3.4** The Authority shall, in addition to the procedures required above, maintain written procedures for any other method of competitive procurement to be used by the Authority. These procedures shall, among other things: (i) identify the category of procurement to which the procedure relates; (ii) ensure reasonable competition given the cost and type of procurement; and (iii) require written documentation of the rationale for awarding the procurement.
- **3.5** The Authority shall implement and maintain a procedure for reviewing inquiries from unsuccessful bidders and proposers. Such process shall ensure that unsuccessful bidders and proposers are treated in a fair and equitable manner.

SECTION 4.0 NON-COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT METHODS

- **4.1** The Authority, subject to the provisions of Section 4.2 of this Policy, shall not be required to use a competitive method of procurement in the following instances:
 - A. <u>Emergency Purchase.</u> In the case of an emergency arising out of an accident or other unforeseen occurrence or condition whereby circumstances affecting property or other interests of the Authority, or the life, health or safety of persons require immediate action, the Executive Director or his or her designee may authorize the procurement on other than a competitive basis. For each such procurement, there shall be a written record setting forth the basis for concluding that there was an emergency and the methods used to identify the selected contractor.

- B. <u>Discretionary Purchases SB/MWBE/SDVOB</u>. In accordance with New York State Procurement Guidelines, the Executive Director, or designee, of the Authority may authorize the purchase of commodities or services from Small Business concerns, certified Minority or Women-Owned Business Enterprises, Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises, or commodities or technology that are recycled or remanufactured, in an amount not exceeding the threshold established per State Finance Law §163-6 without a formal competitive process.
- **C.** <u>Discretionary Purchases Small Purchases.</u> The Authority may purchase commodities or services costing less than fifteen thousand dollars (\$15,000), in the aggregate during the fiscal year, without requiring competitive quotations.
- D. <u>Preferred Sources</u>. Goods or materials may be obtained from any provider which has been afforded Preferred Source status in accordance with Section 162 of the State Finance Law, such as the New York State Department of Correctional Services Division of Industries-Corcraft, Industries of the Blind of New York State, New York State Industries for the Disabled and New York State Office of Mental Health, which, by law, are exempt from competitive bidding or similar requirements.
- E. <u>Single Source</u>: A procurement in which, even though two or more firms can supply the required commodities or services, the Executive Director, or designee, upon written findings setting forth the material and substantial reasons therefore, may award the contract to one offerer over the other. For each such procurement, there shall be documented in the procurement record the circumstances leading to the selection of the vendor, including the alternatives considered, the rationale for selecting the specific vendor, and the basis upon which it determined the cost was reasonable (State Finance Law § 163(h)).
- **F.** <u>Sole Source.</u> A procurement in which only one offerer is capable of supplying the required commodities or services (State Finance Law § 163 (g)). The Executive Director, or designee, may authorize the award of a contract for that commodity or service on other than a competitive basis. A written record shall be made of the facts supporting such a sole source determination.
- **G.** <u>Exempt Contracts.</u> Other types of goods or services for which a competitive procurement process is impractical may be solicited on other than a competitive basis. Such exempt contacts may include; services provided by legal monopolies, for example utilities. Exempt Contracts require the approval of the Executive Director or his or her designee.
- **4.2** All procurements made pursuant to this Section shall be done in accordance with law and in furtherance of the purposes enumerated in Section 1.0 of this Policy. In addition, even if procurements need not be made on a competitive basis under this Policy, the Authority will seek competition to the maximum extent practicable under the circumstances.

SECTION 5.0 MONETARY THRESHOLDS FOR PROCUREMENT METHODS

The table below represents the minimum procurement methods that must be utilized with the associated monetary thresholds for purchases, unless using a non-competitive procurement method per Section 4.1

Estimated Amount of Purchase	Procurement Method
Discretionary Purchases – Small Purchase: aggregate purchase < \$15,000	Non – Competitive Procurement
Medium Purchase: aggregate purchase: ≥\$15,000 and <\$50,000	Written Quote(s)
Large Purchase: aggregate ≥ \$50,000.00	Formal Bid, Request for Proposals, Centralized Contract, Preferred Source

SECTION 6.0 PUBLICATION REQUIREMENTS FOR PROCUREMENT METHODS

- 6.1 The following publication requirements shall apply to solicitations for Procurement Contracts:
 - A. Methods of obtaining Bids and Proposals. The solicitation of bids, proposals or submissions of qualification data or offers for Procurement Contracts shall be made by the Authority in a manner determined by the Authority to be the most cost effective or providing reasonable competition. For Procurement Contracts that must be awarded on a Competitive Basis, the requirements may include advertisement in appropriate newspapers or trade journals and may also include direct mailings to firms considered qualified and such other outreach mechanisms as are consistent with this Policy, including the Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprise and Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprise provisions herein.
 - **B.** Contracts \$50,000 or More. In the case of Procurement Contracts in the actual or estimated amount of fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000) or more, the Authority will place a notice of all such opportunities in the New York State Contract Reporter and shall post the full bid/proposal documents on the Authority's website for downloading.

The link to the NYS Contract Reporter is:https://www.nyscr.ny.govThe link to the Authority's bid listings is:https://www.nyscr.ny.gov

C. Exemptions from Publication Requirement - The requirements above, relative to publications in the Contract Reporter, shall not apply to Procurement Contracts awarded pursuant to; 1) Centralized Contracts, 2) Emergency Contracts, 3) Exempt Contracts, 4) Preferred Sources, 5) Single Source, or 6) Sole Source.

SECTION 7.0 REQUIREMENTS REGARDING THE SELECTION OF PROCUREMENT CONTRACTORS

7.1 Contracts for Professional Services. The Authority shall award Contracts for Professional Services on a Competitive Basis unless the Procurement Contract is an Exempt Contract or is awarded using any of the non-competitive Source Selection Methods. Before entering into a Procurement Contract for Professional Services, the Authority should consider whether the contemplated services are best provided by Authority staff or external consultants. Capacity, expertise and cost shall be considered in making the determination. In addition, the Authority shall assure that the award of such contract is made to a Procurement Contractor evidencing proven experience with projects of the scope, magnitude and complexity that are the subject of the contract and that such contractor has the ability to perform all work required in a professional and timely manner. The Authority shall also consider factors such as financial responsibility, reliability, skill, past performance on Authority projects, judgment and integrity. As part of the competitive process, the Authority shall:

- **A.** Solicit proposals from several firms known to be qualified in the area of the service to be provided;
- **B.** Evaluate those proposals received on the basis of the proposers' qualifications and other appropriate factors recited in the Request for Proposals. Contract price and fee may be the subject of Competitive Negotiation;
- **C.** Document the deliberative processes by which Contractors providing Professional Services are selected;
- **D.** Maintain written procedures to be used in connection with Requests for Proposals and Competitive Negotiations that are consistent with this Policy and that contain provisions relating to the solicitation, evaluation and selection of service contractors to which Procurement Contracts for Professional Services are to be awarded.
- **E.** Document the deliberative process in which the Procurement Contractor was determined to be Responsive and Responsible. Contractors are required to submit completed New York State Vendor Responsibility Questionnaires.
- **7.2 Contracts for Construction**. The award of construction contracts by the Authority will require contracts to be awarded pursuant to Competitive Bids. The award of separate contracts for the major categories of work, i.e., general contracting; plumbing; electrical, and heating, ventilating, and air conditioning, may be required. The Authority shall select its construction contractors competitively unless the Procurement Contract is an Exempt Contract or is made using any of the following Source Selection Methods: Emergency Contract or Sole Source. All Public Works Contracts will require compliance by contractors and subcontractors with the provisions of the Labor Law requiring the payment of prevailing wage rates. In addition, contractors and subcontractors shall provide updated NYSDOL certificates of registration pursuant to Article 8 of the State Labor Law, Section 220-i, as same may be amended.

Any method of procurement employed for any construction contract shall assure that the work is done by qualified and experienced Contractors at the lowest price to the Authority. If a contract is awarded on a Competitive Basis, the Authority shall assure that the award of such contract is made to a Contractor evidencing proven experience with projects of the scope, magnitude and complexity that are the subject of the contract and that such contractor has the ability to perform all work required in a professional and timely manner. In addition, the Authority shall consider factors such as financial responsibility, reliability, skill, past performance on Authority projects, judgment and integrity.

The Authority shall document the deliberative process in which the Contractor was determined to be responsive and responsible, and shall require contractors to submit completed New York State Vendor Responsibility Questionnaires.

The Authority shall maintain written procedures that are consistent with this Policy concerning the solicitation, evaluation and selection of Contractors to which Procurement Contracts for construction services are to be awarded. These procedures shall also provide for, among other things, the promotion of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises, Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises, New York State Business Enterprises, New York State Residents and Small Businesses.

7.3 Procurement Contracts for Goods and Materials. The Authority shall award Procurement Contracts for goods, materials, fixtures, furnishings, equipment and service contracts such as maintenance services and waste disposal (other than for Professional Services and construction) on a Competitive Basis (including Competitive Bids) unless the Procurement Contract is an Exempt Contract or is made using one of the following Source Selection Methods: Centralized

Contracts, Emergency Contracts, Preferred Source, Discretionary Purchases, Single Source or Sole Source.

The Authority shall maintain written procedures that are consistent with this Policy concerning the solicitation, evaluation and selection of vendors and suppliers to which Procurement Contracts for goods and materials shall be awarded. These procedures shall also provide for, among other things, the promotion of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises, Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises, New York State Business Enterprises, New York State Residents and Small Businesses.

- **7.4 Standardization**. Where the Authority has determined that it is in its best interests to standardize on a particular make, manufacturer, model or licensed product for the efficient operation of its business, the Board may resolve to standardize on the specified make, manufacturer, model or licensed product for purchase. In that event any competitive procurement will identify in the bid or proposal's specifications the standardized items that must be provided by the vendor, or source.
- **7.5 Bidder Debriefing.** In the event that an unsuccessful bidder or proposer requests the Authority to review the award of a Contract, the Authority shall afford the unsuccessful bidder or proposer the opportunity to review its bid or proposal with the Authority and provide the unsuccessful bidder or proposer with the basis for decision and award of the Procurement Contract. In the process of reviewing the bid or proposal of an unsuccessful bidder or proposer the Authority shall treat each bidder or proposer in a fair and equitable manner.
- **7.6 Promotion of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises.** It is the goal of the Authority to (a) promote and assist participation by Certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises in competition for Procurement Contracts and to (b) award a fair share of Procurement Contracts to Certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises. It is also the Authority's goal to award contracts to those contractors who have evidenced compliance with the laws of the State of New York prohibiting discrimination in employment. The Authority recognizes that this goal may be achieved by awarding Procurement Contracts to those firms who have demonstrated that they do not discriminate in employment. Furthermore, if a Contractor utilizes a subcontractor(s) in the performance of any Procurement Contract, said Procurement Contract, where required pursuant to Article 15-A of the Executive Law, shall require the Contractor to act affirmatively to secure participation by Certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises in such subcontract and to report the nature and extent of such efforts to the Authority. All Procurement Contracts, where required, shall be in compliance with Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended.
 - **A.** In furtherance of the above, and to promote the use of Certified Minority and Women-Owned Enterprises in Procurement Contracts, the Authority shall:
 - Establish appropriate goals for participation of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises in Procurement Contracts and for the utilization of Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having Procurement Contracts with the Authority in accordance with Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended.
 - **2.** Solicit offers from Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises known to have experience in the area of the goods or service to be provided on Procurement Contracts in accordance with Article 15-A of the Executive Law, as same may be amended.
 - **3.** Provide notice of any procurement to appropriate professional organizations that serve Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises so that members of these organizations are apprised of potential opportunities to contract with the Authority.

- 4. Consult any list maintained by any State agency or department known to the Authority, including the Department of Economic Development, which identifies Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises by area of expertise and shall contact appropriate Certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises listed therein to solicit their offers.
- 5. Designate appropriate staff to oversee the Authority's programs established to promote and assist: (i) participation by certified Minority or Women-owned Business Enterprises in the Authority's procurement opportunities and facilitation of the award of procurement contracts to such enterprises; (ii) the utilization of certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having procurement contracts with the Authority; and (iii) the utilization of partnerships, joint ventures or other similar arrangements between certified Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises and other entities having procurement contracts with the Authority. Such staff shall be familiar with the procurement of the types of construction, financial, legal or professional services utilized by the Authority either directly or through their designees participation in the procurement process.
- 6. Establish requirements to conduct procurements in a manner that will enable the Authority to achieve the maximum feasible portion of the goals established pursuant to subsection A.1 above and that eliminates barriers to participation by Minority and Women-Owned Business Enterprises on Procurement Contracts.
- 7.7 Promotion of Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises. It is the goal of the Authority to (a) promote and assist participation by Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises in competition for Procurement Contracts and to (b) award a fair share of Procurement Contracts to Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises. All Procurement Contracts, where required, shall be in compliance with Article 3 of the Veterans' Services Law, as same may be amended.
 - **A.** In furtherance of the above, and to promote the use of Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises in Procurement Contracts, the Authority shall:
 - Establish appropriate goals for participation with Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having Procurement Contracts with the Authority in accordance with Article 3 of the Veterans' Services Law, as same may be amended.
 - 2. Solicit offers from Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises known to have experience in the area of goods or service to be provided on Procurement Contracts in accordance with Article 3 of the Veterans' Services Law, as same may be amended.
 - **3.** Provide notice of any procurement to appropriate professional organizations that serve Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises so that members of these organizations are apprised of potential opportunities to contract with the Authority.
 - 4. Consult any list maintained by any State agency or department known to the Authority, including the Office of General Services, which identifies Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises by area of expertise and shall contact appropriate Certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises listed therein to solicit their offers.

- 5. Designate appropriate staff to oversee the Authority's programs established to promote and assist: (1) participation by Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises in the Authority's procurement opportunities and facilitation of the award of procurement contracts to such enterprises; (2) the utilization of certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises as subcontractors and suppliers by entities having procurement contracts with the Authority; and (3) the utilization of partnerships, joint ventures or other similar arrangements between certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises and other entities having procurement contracts with the Authority and (3) the utilization of partnerships, joint ventures or other similar arrangements between certified Service-Disabled Veteran-Owned Business Enterprises and other entities having procurement contracts with the Authority. Such staff shall be familiar with the procurement of the types of construction, financial, legal or professional services utilized by the Authority either directly or through their designees participation in the procurement process.
- **6.** Establish requirements to conduct procurements in a manner that will enable the Authority to achieve the maximum feasible portion of the goals established pursuant to subsection A.1 above.
- **7.8 Promotion of New York State Business Enterprises and New York State Residents**. It is the goal of the Authority to promote the participation of New York State Business Enterprises and New York State Residents in Procurement Contracts. Accordingly, the following procedures shall apply:
 - **A.** The Authority shall collect and consult the specifications of New York State Business Enterprises in developing specifications for any Procurement Contract for the purchase of goods where possible, practicable, feasible and consistent with open bidding.
 - **B.** The Authority shall include in all bid documents provided to potential bidders a statement that information concerning the availability of New York State subcontractors and suppliers is available from the New York State Department of Economic Development and it is the policy of New York State to encourage the use of New York State subcontractors and suppliers.
- **7.9 Approval and Annual Review of Certain Contracts**. The Authority may enter into Procurement Contracts for Professional Services for periods of longer than one year in accordance with this Policy provided such contractors are presented to the Board of the Authority for approval and reviewed annually as part of the approval of the Annual Report on Procurement Contracts. Such Procurement Contracts may also be terminated by the Board of the Authority.
- **7.10** Budget. The Authority Board of Directors shall approve budgets on an annual basis. The Authority shall not enter into a Procurement Contracts where budgeted funds are not available.
- **7.11** Limitations on Contracts with Former Officers and Employees. The Authority shall not enter into a Procurement Contract with a former Officer or employee of the Authority or any entity in which such Officer or employee has an interest (including a position of employment with such entity) unless there has been compliance with the applicable provisions of the Public Officers Law.

SECTION 8.0 STANDARD PROVISIONS FOR PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS

8.1 **Procurement Contracts for Professional Services.** Procurement Contracts for Professional Services shall detail the scope of services to be performed and the time frame for performance, the monitoring or reviewing of that performance by Authority personnel and, where appropriate, any permitted use of Authority supplies, facilities or personnel. Such contracts shall also state the compensation for the services, the schedule of payment, the pre-conditions for receiving

payment from the Authority, procedures for termination of the contract and any other provisions deemed necessary or appropriate for each particular Contract.

- **8.2** All Procurement Contracts which require a formal competitive solicitation (Competitive Bid, Request for Proposal) under this Policy shall include the current Authority's "Standard Terms, Conditions and Mandatory Clauses".
- 8.3 Compliance with State Finance Law §§ 139-j and 139-k (the Procurement Lobbying Law). In order to comply with the Procurement Lobbying Law, the Authority has established Policy and Procedures pertaining to contacts regarding Procurement Contracts. Consistent with the Procurement Lobbying Law and the Authority's Policies and Procedures, the Authority shall designate one or more persons who may be contacted by Contractors regarding a given procurement and shall require disclosure from Contractors of persons or organizations designated, retained or employed to attempt to influence the procurement process. The Authority shall incorporate a summary of the Policy and Procedures in all solicitation of proposals, bid documents or specifications. Procurement Contracts must contain a certification by the Contractor that all information provided to the Authority with respect to the Procurement Lobbying Law is complete, true and accurate, and a provision authorizing termination of the Procurement Contract where it is found that the Contractor intentionally violated the Procurement Lobbying Law. The Authority shall consider as part of its determination of responsibility of a Contractor whether there has been past or present non-compliance with the Procurement Lobbying Law.
- **8.4** Pursuant to Public Authorities Law (PAL) section 2879-A and Title 2, Chapter V of New York Code of Rules and Regulation (NYCRR) Part 206, the Comptroller of the State of New York, at his or her discretion and upon notification to a public Authority, is authorized to review and approve such Authority's contracts in excess of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) which are awarded noncompetitively or which are to be paid in whole or part from monies appropriated by the State of New York. The Comptroller of the State of New York has provided official notification to the Authority that such statutory authority is being exercised and that all contracts meeting the requirements specified in Public Authorities Law (PAL) section 2879-A and Title 2, Chapter V of New York Code of Rules and Regulation (NYCRR) Part 206 shall be subject to prior approval by the Comptroller of the State of New York.

SECTION 9.0 REPORT ON PROCUREMENT CONTRACTS

- **9.1** Within ninety (90) days after the end of its fiscal year, the Authority shall prepare a report on Procurement Contracts pursuant to Public Authority Law 2879. Such a report may be a part of any other annual report that the Authority is required to make, such as the Public Authorities Reporting Information System (PARIS) report. The Authority Chief Financial Officer and Procurement Coordinator are responsible for completing and submitting the PARIS report to the Office of the State Comptroller and the Authority Budget Office. The report shall include:
 - A. A copy of the Procurement Policy of the Development Authority of the North Country,
 - **B.** An annual report on procurement contracts which is available to the public.
 - **C.** An annual report explaining this Policy on Procurement Contracts and any amendments hereto.
 - **D.** Any other reports required by law.
- **9.2** Availability to Public. Copies of the annual report on Procurement Contracts shall also be available to the public on the Authority's website or upon reasonable request at the Authority's main office.

9.3 Pursuant to PAL 2879-A and NYCRR 206.3, the Authority is required to submit a report to the Office of the State Comptroller annually within 30 days prior to the end of its fiscal year. The report will include a description of every eligible contract and eligible contract amendment which the Authority reasonably anticipates awarding in the following fiscal year. This requirement relates specifically to Authority contracts in excess of one million dollars (\$1,000,000) which are awarded noncompetitively or which are to be paid in whole or part from monies appropriated by the State of New York.

SECTION 10.0 MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- **10.1 Amendment of Policy**. Any modification or amendment of this Policy may be made by a Supplemental Resolution adopted at any duly constituted meeting of the Board of the Authority; provided, however, that no such modification or amendment shall abrogate the rights and duties of existing Authority contracts, the terms of which were established pursuant to this Policy.
- **10.2** No Recourse under this Policy. No provision contained solely in this Policy shall be the basis for any claim against any member, Officer or employee of the Authority or the Authority itself.
- **10.3** Effect of Noncompliance of Policy. Nothing contained solely in this Policy shall be deemed to alter, invalidate, modify, or impair the terms of any contract or agreement made or entered into in violation of, or not in compliance with, the provisions of this Policy.
- **10.4** In furtherance of this Policy, the Board of the Authority shall annually review this Policy, and may amend same at its pleasure.
- **10.5** The Authority shall utilize Executive Order No. 4, Establishing a State Green Procurement and Agency Sustainability Program, which directs state agencies, public authorities and public benefit corporations to green their procurements and implement sustainability initiatives.

Revision Date	Resolution #	
March 19, 2015	2015-03-32	
March 31, 2016	2016-03-39	
March 23, 2017	2017-03-27	
March 28, 2018	2018-03-33	
February 28, 2019	2019-02-02	
May 28, 2020	2020-05-50	
February 25, 2021	2021-02-36	
February 23, 2023	2023-02-03	
February 22, 2024	2024-02-03	
February 27, 2025	2025-02-03	

SECTION 11.0 RECORD OF REVISIONS